A RIOT IN THE VILLAGE OF “KAFR SHUBRAHUR”

A CASE STUDY ON THE IMPACT OF
THE ESTABLISHMENT OF PRIVATE LAND OWNERSHIP
ON PEASANTS IN 19TH CENTURY EGYPT

Hiroshi KATO

Preface

The complicated judicial condition of land tenure and the rapid economic
development under the cotton monocultural agrarian structure led to the
widespread conflicts between landlords and peasants in the latter half of 19th
century Egypt. A typical case was the riot of Kafr Shubrahiir’s villagers against
their landlord for five years from 1893 to 1898, on which the Mixed Court
of Mansiira passed judgement on 15 November 1898.

Kafr Shubrahiir was a small village in Daqahliya Province, whose owner
changed many times since its formation in 1829/30 as a cotton farm in the
estate of Muhammad ‘Al7 (ruled 1805-48) until it was finally sold by the
Commission des Domaines de I'Etat to ‘Isa Pasha Hamd1, the plaintiff of this
trial, in 1893,

The aim of this article is firstly to describe the structure of this village
at the moment of this trial, secondly to reconstruct its history, thirdly to
introduce Kafr Shubrahir trial and finally to discuss the socio-economic and
judicial background of the above mentioned riot, especially the impact of
the establishment of private land ownership on its villagers, based upon the
decision of the Mixed Court on Kafr Shubrahir trial, Egyptian censuses taken
since 1880’s and other source-materials.’

I The Structure of Village “Kafr Shubrahiir”’

Kafr Shubrahiir was one of the fifteen small villages belonging to Sinbel-
lawein District (markaz) in Daqahliya Province (mudiriya), which were newly
formed and registered as administrative units (nawah™, sing. nahiya) in the 19th

1 This is the abridgement of my article written in Japanese in the Memoirs of the Institute of Ori-
ental Culture, No. 87, November 1981, Fortieth Anniversary Issue, Part Two, the Institute of Oriental
Culture, The Univ. of Tokyo, pp. 51-116.
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century after the cadastral survey was performed in 1813-4 by Muhammad
‘Ali. Most of these new villages owed their origins to the farms (‘izab, sing.
‘izba), whose main crop was cotton, and were constructed in the estates
(jafalik, sing. jiflik) of royal families or the newly-opened land (ab‘adtya land)
granted with the privilege of tax exemption to the ruler’s senior officials,
most of whom were Turco-Egyptians, following the last stage of Muhammad
‘Al’s rule. Kafr Shubrahiir was one of these villages formed as ‘izba.?

According to the census of 1897 in which Kafr Shubrahiir case was on
trial in the Mixed Court of Mansiira, the number of houses was 113 and that
of villagers 703, namely 341 men and 362 women, all of whom were Egyptian,
including 30 male and 24 female nomads. Except 4 Coptic Christians, all of
them were Muslims for whom there were one mosque, some small prayer
sites (zawiya) and one Koran school (kuttab). The villagers inhabited the
three izbas as dependent housing areas which were called after their founders,
as well as the village housing area (nahiya). The number of inhabitants in
each housing area was as follows; that of nihiya was 449, ‘Izba ‘Abd al-
Rahman Bey Ibrahim 28, ‘Izba Ahmad Bey Hamdi 26 and ‘Izba Muhammad
Sharin Pasha 200.® The village housing area composing 5 feddans, 15 qirats
and 16 sahms was situated in the land unit (hawd) named “Da’ir al-Nahiya”,
on which were found more than 80 buildings such as a meeting-place (dawwar)
and houses of estate overseers (nuzzar), a stable guarder, a scribe and cultivators?

The area of cultivated land belonging to this village was 885 feddans.®
We can confirm at least the following seven landowners; ‘Isi Pasha Hamdi,
the plaintiff of Kafr Shubrahir trial, three ‘izba owners, namely, ‘Abd al-
Rahmian Bey Ibrahim, Ahmad Bey Hamdi, Muhammad Sharin Pasha, two heirs
of ‘Abd al-Malik Ibrahim and a mosque. ‘Abd al-Malik Ibrahim was the only
person among villagers who acquired land composing about 8 feddans and 9
qirats sometime from 1849 to 1863, and a mosque possessed land because
Muhammad ‘Ali bequeathed 0.87 feddian as waqf for its maintenance at the
time of the formation of this village as will be pointed out below.®

The cultivated land concerned was irrigated by Orman and Chenfas
Canals to the west of this village and many small canals (nili canals). As to
the irrigation instruments there were one steam pomp on the bank of Orman

2 The age of village formation, the number of ‘izba, the area of cultivated land (mesure: feddan), the
number of inhabitants, that of land unit (kewd) and minimum/maximum land tax value imposed on land
units (mesure: millim = 1/1000 Egyptian pound) of 87 villages belonging to Daqahliya Province at the
end of the 19th century and the beginning of the 20th century are included in the table at the end of
this paper.

3 A. Boinet, Géographie Economique et Administrative de I'Egypte. Basse-ﬁgypte I, Le Caire,
1902, p. 391.

4 Tribunal Mixte Civil de Mansourah, Conclusions. Audience du 15 Novembre 1898, Le Caire, 1898,
pp. 6, 16. (Hereafter Conclusions.) 1 feddan (= 1.038 acre) = 24 qirats, 1 qirdt= 24 sahms.

5 Boinet, op. cit., p. 391. ’

6 Conclusions, pp. 16, 31.
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Canal, six sagiyas and seven tabiits. The land was drained by Tanbil al-Jadid
Drainage Canal (magraf), a branch of Shawa Drainage Canal. Main crops
were cotton, wheat, maize, Egyptian clover (bersim), barley, broad bean (fil),
onion and many other kinds of vegetables, besides 9 date trees and many
acacias, tamarisks, fig trees and lebbakhs (a kind of tamarisk). As to animals
there were 40 cows and oxen, 65 buffaloes, 240 sheep, 8 goats, 2 camels, 51
donkeys, 4 draught horses, 4 horses and a lot of rabbits, fowls, pigeons and
bees. There was no other industry except agriculture. The weekly fair was
opened in Sinbellawein, capital of Sinbellawein District, at a distance of one
hour and 50 minutes’ walk from this village.

In addition, there were some village ponds (birak, sing. birka), one bridge
on the Orman Canal and an agricultural road to Mit Samannid passing by
this village. The nearest station to the agricultural railroad was that of Shubra-
hdr at a distance of 30 minutes’ walk and the nearest station to the national
railway was that of Sinbellawein.”

I The History of Village “Kafr Shubrahiir”’

In 1245 A.H. (1829/30 A.D.) the village Shubrahiir, part of Shubra
Baddin estate (jiflik) of Muhammad ‘Alf was divided into two parts, and the
village Kafr Shubrahiir composing about 800 feddans was newly formed,
besides Shubrahiir which was composed of about 4000 feddans. The motive
for this division was Muhammad ‘Ali’s desire to construct a new farm (‘izba)
probably for cotton cultivation.® According to the decision of the Mixed
Court on Kafr Shubrahir trial, Muhammad ‘AlT collected cultivators and make
them dig a village pond (birka) from which they took materials for the con-
struction of their houses and other necessary buildings for their village life
such as a mosque and a cemetery. This is because the name of the land unit
(hawd) in which the housing area of Kafr Shubrahar was situated changed
from al-Jurn al-Qibli to D3@’ir al-Nihiya which means ‘“the enclosure of
village.”®

Then, in 1261 A.H. (1845 A.D.) when this village was incorporated
into Daqahliya estate from Shubra Baddin estate, it was registered anew as
Muhammad ‘Ali’s personal property (rizqa bila mal). In any events, the scale

7 Boinet, op. cit., pp. 391-2, Conclusions, p. 15.

8 Conclusions, p. 4. The Court pointed out that Kafr Shubrahtr was part of Daqgahliya estate
(iflik) before and after its formation. But this view was wrong, for this village belonged to Shubra Baddin
estate before 1845. cf. ‘All Barakat, tatawwur al-milkiya al-zira‘iya fi migr 1813-1914 wa athar-hu ‘ala
al-haraka al-siyasiya, Cairo, 1977, pp. 94-5. According to Muhammad Ramzi, al-qamiis al-jughrafi, the
age of the formation of Kafr Shubrahiir was 1259 A.H. (1843 A.D.), as will be pointed out in the table
at the end of this paper. Probably, in this year Kafr Shubrahtir was recorded in the land register for the
first time, because the expression of the passage concerned is *... was divided from Shubrahtr in ac-
cordance with the land survey (tari‘) of 1259 A.H.”

9 Conclusions, pp. 14-6.
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of the housing area of this village was very small from its formation until
then, for there was found an account in the Register of Daqahliya Estate
(Registre de délimitation du Tchiflik de Dakahlieh) for the year 1845 to the
effect that all the land belonging to Kafr Shubrahiir was arable land without
a building.® However, in 1849 when this village came under the direct control
of the office of Dagahliya Province as state owned land, in obedience to the
superior order by ‘Abbas in 18 Shawwal 1265 A.H. (1849 A.D.) immediately
after the death of Muhammad ‘Ali, there were 44 houses in the housing area
and 139 inhabitants were employed in the cultivation of land, that is, one
chief-manager (bash khawlt), two managers (khawli) one overseer (nazir), one
scribe, one stable guarder and 133 peasants.!

At the time of the accession of ‘Isma‘il (ruled 1863-79) to the throne
in 1279 A.H. (1863 A.D.), he inherited and incorporated 562 feddins out of
the land belonging to this village as his private estate (Da’ira Saniya), but
immediately afterwards in the same year, he donated them to his second
wife Princess Gananiar Hanem. The remaining land was disposed of through
other means in the previous period under the direct control of Daqahliya
provincial office. Consequently, in 1863 the total area of this village was
owned by the following four persons as well as one mosque; Princes Gananiar,
Ahmad Bey Hamdi, Muhammad Sharin Pasha, ‘Abd al-Malik Ibrahim. Ahmad
Bey Hamdi and Muhammad Sharin Pasha were the persons who were known
as ‘izba owners in the 1897 census, and ‘Abd al-Malik Ibrahim was the only
person among the villagers who acquired until then 4 feddans, 1 qirat and
20 sahms in one land unit (hawd) and 4 feddans, 6 qirats and 16 sahms in
the other. A mosque possessed land because Muhammad ‘Ali bequeathed
0.87 feddan as wagqf for its maintenance at the time of the formation of Kafr
Shubrahdr."?

As to the history of this village from 1863, we regrettably can only
relate that of the land composing 562 feddans donated by ‘Isma‘il to Princess
Gananiar, since the subject-matter of Kafr Shubrahtur trial was not the cul-
tivated land belonging to this village, but the houses of its villagers which
were constructed on the above mentioned 562 feddans.

In 1289 A.H. (1872/3 A.D.) Princess Gananiar donated this section of
land to her daughter Princess Zanab Hanem. Then, in 1294 A H. (1877 A.D.)
when Princess Zanab died, it was sold again to Princess Gananiar by two
heritors of her, namely, her husband and her father ‘Isma‘il. However, in
1878 when the loan agreement was concluded between the Egyptian Govern-
ment and M. M. Rothschild and Cts, Princes Gananiar transferred this section
of land to the Egyptian government with other properties of her, following

10 Conclusions, pp. 4-5, 18, ‘Alf Barakat, op. cit., pp. 94-5.
11 Conclusions, pp.5,13,16,19, 29. :
12 ibid., pp. 5, 16, 18, 31.
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other royal family members. Thereafter, it was managed by the administration
of the Commission des Domaines de I’Etat, because the Egyptian government
included it as a part of security for the loan. Finally, this Commission, which
had published the directions of tender (le cahier des charges) from 1883
for the sale of the land under its administration, sold 321 feddans out of
the 562 feddins concerned to ‘Isa Pasha Hamdi and Amin Bey Abdullih on
15 June 1893. However, on 23 September of that year all of the 321 feddans
came into ‘Isa Pasha’s possession, for Amin Bey Abdullih sold again his part
to ‘Isa Pasha. At all events, ‘Isa Pasha, plaintiff of Kafr Shubrahar trial, was
the landlord of about 432 feddans registered as the land of village Kafr Shubra-
hir in 1893, including the housing area, since he bought land from heritors
of Hamd1 and Mahmiid Pasha Taher, besides Amin Bey Abdullah.”®

Il The Trial of “Kafr Shubrahur’

On 15 June 1893 the Commission des Domaines de I'Etat sold to ‘Isa
Pasha 321 feddans including the housing area out of the land belonging
to Kafr Shubrahiir. At the outset, the inhabitants of the housing area rec-
ognized ‘Isa Pasha’s ownership of the houses in which they lived at that time.
However, when ‘Isi Pasha demanded 7 inhabitants including ‘umda (village
headman) Ibrahim al-Ziyada al-Kabir and shaykh (village senior) Ahmad al-
‘Ajiiz to move from their houses for financial reason, they refused his demand
by claiming their ownership of their houses. In consequence, ‘Isa Pasha en-
tered a lawsuit against these seven villagers for the confirmation of his owner-
ship of their houses and their eviction from them.

Initially, the Court rejected his appeal, because the Mixed Court mistook
the identification of the site of the disputed houses as being in the village
Shubrahur. So, ‘Isa Pasha appealed to the Court d’appel which recognized
the original mistake and reversed its decision on 24 September 1894 and sent
an eviction order to the defendants. Then, this order was carried out and the
above seven villagers’ application for a retrial was rejected.

However, the seven villagers concerned who were discontented with
this sentence induced other villagers to refuse the cultivation of ‘Isa Pasha’s
land. As a result, almost all of the inhabitants of the housing area began to
boycott their employment in the cultivation of his land. In addition, when
‘Isa Pasha collected peasants from elsewhere outside of this village and let them
live in the houses newly constructed by him in opposition to the villagers’
refusal to cultivate, the rioters evicted them from the housing area, which
brought about bloody accidents for which three trials were opened at the
National Court of Sinbellawein. Confronted with this situation, ‘Isa Pasha

13 jbid., pp. 5-6, 35.
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entered a new lawsuit against 74 villagers for the confirmation of his ownership
of their 63 houses, on which the Mixed Court of Manstira passed judgement
on 15 November 1893 concerning seven trials which had begun on 9 June
1896."

The result of these trials was obvious, for the Mixed Court recognized
completely the plaintiff’s ownership of the disputed houses on the following
basis.

The housing area on which the houses in question were constructed was
part of the land which was sold by the Commission to the plaintiff ‘Isa Pasha.
It was also clear because of the existence of title deeds (tagsit, pl. taqasit)
and the history of Kafr Shubrahidr that the land concerned continued to
be part of the estate (jiflik) of the royal families from the formation of this
village until the time when it came under the administration of the Commision.
Consequently, the possessors of this title, namely, the royal families, then,
the Commission and ‘Isi Pasha were the successive owners of the subject-
matters, "since the taqsit was acknowledged as title deed certificating the
ownership of not only land but also buildings constructed on it.'®

In addition, Kafr Shubrahiir was a new village formed as a farm (‘izba)
in the estate of Muhammad ‘Ali, and he ordered the cultivators collected from
elsewhere to construct their houses as well as other buildings necessary for
their community life at his expense under the direction of ‘izba administrators.
The materials for the construction of these buildings were gathered from the
village pond (birka) which he also ordered to be dug outside of the housing
area. This was apparent because the disputed houses were not buildings which
we would call residences, but humble huts or cottages, composed of one
story and one or two rooms, constructed with logs, reeds and muds or raw
bricks, for whose construction any skilled labour was not necessary.*®

In summary, the inhabitants of Kafr Shubrahtr were the labourers at-
tached to ‘izba (des ouvriers cultivateurs attachés a la culture, tamalliya)
and devoting themselves to the cultivation of ‘izba owner’s land in the past and
present. Consequently, they were only permitted to occupy temporarily
the houses constructed by ‘G2ba owner so long as they were engaged in land
cultivation. In fact, there was no deed testifying to the transfer of ownership
to the disputed houses except the deed (hujja) on the purchase of houses in
the name of one of the defendants ‘Ali Abu Yusef, although the person-
nel who lived in them had been changing considerably from the formation
of this village. Moreover, there was much room for doubt that the hujja of
Abii Yisef which was claimed by defendants to be issued in 1278 A.H.

14 ibid., pp. 3-4, 6-8, 32.
15 ibid., pp. 10-3.
16 ibid., pp. 13-5.
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(1861/2 A.D.) was a forgery drawn up between the members of same family."”

It was true that the defendants produced some documents and evidence
besides the above mentioned hujja in order to claim that they were not the
labourers attached to ‘izba but had being occupying their houses in the
capacity of owners. However, these documents and evidence could not reverse
the plaintiff’s claim.

Firstly, the defendants produced 32 tax receipts (wird, pl. awrad) dated
from 1849 to 1863 in the name of 9 villagers, and claimed that at least these
9 villagers were not labourers attached to ‘izba, but peasants who paid land
tax directly to the state, and therefore they occupied their houses in the
capacity of owners. Indeed, the wird was the extract of land tax register
(daftar al-mukallafa). But it was quite questionable that the wirds produced
by the defendants were true tax receipts, because firstly the estates of royal
families were exempted from tax collection until 1854, and secondly all
these wirds were issued from 1849 to 1863 during which Kafr Shubrahtir was
under the careless administration of Daqgahliya provincial office and the office
leased a part of its land to villagers by the reason of administrative difficulty.
Furthermore this careless administration led to the confusion of rent with
tax, since there was no problem whether it was called tax or rent for both
tax-collector (sarraf) and cultivator so long as the latter paid money to the
state. In short, the wirds produced by the defendants were not tax receipts
but rent receipts.’®

Secondly, the defendants produced a copy of an administrative report
(jarida al-idara) connected with Kafr Shubrahiir, and claimed indirectly the
ownership of their houses by maintaining that the ownership of the ground
on which the disputed houses were constructed was in the hand of villagers.
Certainly, in this jarida al-idara was found an account to the effect that ‘umda
and shaykh of this village applied to the Commission des Domaines de 1’Etat
for the reduction of tax imposed on the ground of housing area in 1887, as
the defendants asserted. But is was unquestionable that this account did not
support their assertion, because the application for tax reduction was presented
not to the state but to the Commission. In other words, this account proved
that the owner of the ground of housing area was not the villagers but the
Commission in the opposition to the defendants’ assertion.'

Thirdly, the defendants produced two certificates of the payment of
village watchmen’s salary dated the first and second quarters of 1897 in the
name of a defendant, and claimed that the defendant concerned was recognized

17 ibid., pp. 15-7, 24-23. On tamalliya (sing. tamalll), sece A.G. Ghannam, al-iqtisad al-zira‘i wa idara
al-‘izab, Cairo, n.d., p. 488, do., al-iqtisad gl-zira‘T wa idara al-mazari‘, Cairo, 1944, p. 399, A. Lambert,
“Les Salariés dans I'Entreprise Agricole Egyptienne”, L’Egypte Contemporaine, No. 211, 1943, pp.
225-7.

18 Conclusions, pp. 17-21.

19 ibid., pp. 21-3.
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as a landowner by the state. It was true that the salary of village watchmen
(ghafir, pl. ghufara’) had been borne by the landowners excluding the simple
cultivators in the past. But it came to be borne by all villagers according to
the decision of the cabinet council on 22 May 1897 for the reason that the
village watchmen were maintained not only for the benefit of landowners but
also that of a total village, although the state also admitted that the landowners
paid it in place of villagers, when all of them were engaged in the cultivation
of one or some landowners’ land. Consequently, if all the villagers of Kafr
Shubrahir cultivated the land of ‘Isa Pasha, he ought to have paid the salary
of village watchmen. However, the fact was not so. Therefore, the fact that
the defendants paid it did not certify that they were landowners, and then
occupied the disputed houses in the capacity of owners.?®

Forthly, the defendants produced two documents for the appointment
of shaykh dated 5 Rajab 1275 A.H. (1859 A.D.) and 11 Dhi al-Qa‘ada 1284
A.H. (1868 A.D.), and claimed that these two defendants appointed to shaykh
had been landholders. Indeed, there was a regulation in the superior order
promulgated on 16 May 1896 concerning the appointment of ‘wmda and
shaykh to the effect that they would be appointed from among landholding
villagers. But this regulation did not order that they should be landholders,
and the state had been appointing landless villagers to ‘umda and shaykh
before and after this superior order, if it was necessary from the administrative
point of view. In fact, if ‘umda and shaykh should be landholders as the
defendants asserted, these of Kafr Shubrahir should be the two heritors of
‘Abd al-Malik Ibrahim who were the only landholders among villagers. How-
ever, the fact was not so.?

Finally, the defendants claimed indirectly their ownership of the disputed
houses by maintaining that the land belonging to Kafr Shubrahiir was transfer-
red to them by prescription. It was true that the clause 80 of the Civil Code
of Mixed Court regulated the prescription of 15 years about state owned
land. But the state owned land mentioned in this clause was the waste land
without registered holders, so it was clear that this regulation was not applied
to the land of Kafr Shubrahiir which had became state owned land because
of the transfer of its control from the royal family to the Commission des
Domaines de 1’Etat.??

IV The Background of “Kafr Shubrahiir” Riot

In the above three paragraphs, we reconstructed the structure and history
of village Kafr Shubrahir and introduced the trial of the riot of its villagers

20 jbid., pp. 23-4.
21 jbid., pp. 33-4.
2 ibid., pp. 34-5.
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against their landlord. Then, what was the cause of this riot?

The Court called the inhabitants of this village the labourers attached to
‘izba (tamalliya) just like the cultivators in a ‘izba constructed as a typical
cotton farm on the capitalistic basis in the end of the 19th century. Indeed,
Kafr Shubrahiir was formed as a ‘izba in the Muhmmad ‘Ali’s estate. But it
should be noted that this ‘izba had the external appearance and architectural
structure similar to the general Egyptian villages with a conglomeration of
closely stacked primitive houses and other village institutions such as a mosque
and a dawwar. In addition, it also had a village pond (birka) and a cemetery
from the beginning. In other words, ‘Izba Kafr Shubrahfir was constructed
as a quasi-village unlike ‘izba in the end of the 19th century which was com-
posed of some buildings with many rooms in which the families of cultivators
lived.

Especially, in the period under which Kafr Shubrahiir was controlled
directly by Daqahliya provincial office, it is even doubtful about the existence
of ‘izba administrators, when we consider the following two facts. The first
is that there was the villager who acquired land in those days, although he
was the only person among the villagers. The second is that the tax receipts
(wirds) which should be issued to landholding peasants were issued to the
villagers. The Court denied the capacity of these wirds as tax receipts. But
the important thing is that the Court was obliged to call the villagers to which
the wirds had been issued in those days the tenants who leased land from the
state, while it called all the villagers of Kafr Shubrahiir the agricultural labourers
attached to ‘izba at the moment of the trial on the above mentioned riot.
In summary, at least in this period, the villagers of Kafr Shubrahiir were not the
tamalliya just like ‘izba cultivators in the end of the 19th century, because
they could acquire and lease land freely, if they had funds and opportunities.
In addition, Kafr Shubrahiir came to be similar to the general Egyptian villages
in those days not only from the viewpoint of the external appearance and
architectural structure but also in terms of the internal administrative organiza-
tion and communal consciousness among villagers, for they had ‘umda and
shaykh as their representatives, and organized village watchmen for the defence
of their property.

But it seems that the control of villagers was strengthened from the
accession of ‘Isma‘il to the throne in 1863. This is deduced from the following
four facts. The first is that none of villagers acquired land from this year. The
second is that the wirds stopped being issued to villagers from this period,
and we can confirm the existence of ‘izba administrators. The third is that
all villagers recognized the ‘Isi Pasha’s ownership of their houses at the
moment of land sale from the Commission des Domaines de I’Etat to ‘Isa
Pasha. The fourth is that in this trial the defendants claimed their ownership
of the disputed houses by maintaining that the houses in question were not
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attached to the land bought by the plaintiff, because the reward for land
cultivation was separately paid in cash.?

In spite of these facts, however, the villagers of Kafr Shubrahir were
not the peasants who were attached exclusively to the cultivation of ‘Isa
Pasha’s land at the time of the trial, just as the Court had stated with reference
to the salary of village watchmen. Moreover, the plaintiff ‘Isa Pasha recognized
it himself, for at the outset of the trial he permitted that some defendants
would continue to live in the disputed houses on condition of the payment
of reasonable rent, if they wanted to do so, although they did not offer their
services to him. In other words, ‘Isd Pasha asserted his right only as a owner
of the disputed houses to some villagers.? At the same time, it is clear by
the occurrence of the riot which was the cause of the trial that the villagers
of Kafr Shubrahiir continued to maintain the village organization and their
communal consciousness formed in the previous period in spite of the change
of their personnel. The situation became accute, probably because their
representatives, that is, ‘umda and shaykh were among the seven villagers
to whom ‘Isa Pasha demended to move from their houses, and they persuaded
other villagers to boycott the cultivation of his land.

Now, we could suppose from the above mentioned history of Kafr Shubra-
hur that its villagers established some village customs supported by the com-
munal consciousness until the time of the trial. This supposition leads us to
the true cause of the riot, namely, the reckless violence committed against
these village customs by ‘Isa Pasha. In fact, the villagers’ concern at the time
of land sale from the Committee to ‘Isa Pasha was not the ideal ownership
of their houses, but the vested interests in them which were based on the
village customs, since all of them recognized his ownership of the disputed
houses. Consequently, if ‘Isa Pasha permitted villagers to live in their houses
just as they had did so, they had no intention of causing such a riot. Never-
theless, he violated so recklessly the village customes by demanding the eviction
of some villagers from their houses. It is probably more correct to say that
the communal consciousness and village customs among villagers were so
deeply rooted that ‘Isa Pasha resorted to the strong measure of the eviction
of some villagers including ‘umda and shaykh in order to remove the obstacle
for his land management. This sharp contrast between the villagers’ conscious-
ness and the ‘Isa Pasha’s purpose of land management was clearly reflected
in the latter’s following two motives for litigation. The first is that the cost
for land management would much increase, unless the occupancy of the
disputed houses was calculated as a part of rewards for land cultivation. The
second is that if ‘Isa Pasha constructed new houses in the housing area to

3 ibid., p. 2.
% ibid., pp. 32-3.
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allow the cultivators collected by him from elsewhere to inhabit them during
the present conflict between him and villagers, it would cause new trouble,
because it was supposed that villagers would not overlook it.?* The events
from then confirmed this fear of his, as we pointed out above.

As a consequence, we could conclude that the riot of village Kafr
Shubrahtr was a typical conflict between a landlord and their peasants under
the circumstances where the land management was changing from a pre-
capitalistic basis to a capitalistic basis in the latter half of 19th century Egypt.
Furthermore it should be noted here that the Court which passed judgement
on this riot disregarded the historical background of Kafr Shubrahur, and
completely excluded the defendants from the legal protection by identifying
this village with ‘izba and its villagers with labourers attached to ‘izba. In
other words, the Court interpreted the history of Kafr Shubrahur on the
assumption of the establishment of private land ownership from the modern
legal point of view at the end of the 19th century, from which we can know
the impact of the establishment of private ownership on the inhabitants of this
village.

This attitude of the Court was especially reflected in its interpretation
that Kafr Shubrahtir had been part of the estates of royal families throughout
its history until its transfer to the Commission in 1879. Indeed, this inter-
pretation was correct about the period from its formation until the death of
Muhammad ‘Al in 1849 as well as that from the accession of ‘Ismi‘il to the
throne in 1863. But it was not so about the period from 1849 to 1863 during
which this village was controlled by Daqahliya provincial office. In fact, the
taqsit was not issued in those days. As we mentioned above, the tagsit was
the deed testifying that the land was transferred from the state to the royal
families or other ruler’s senior officials as privileged land whose holder had
the right to dispose of it.

Regarding wirds, we should remember here that they were issued to the
villagers of Kafr Shubrahiir in this period. The wird was a piece of paper
which recorded the extract of land tax register. Therefore, it was the document
which proved that the person to whom it was issued was not a tenant or
labourer, but a landholder, namely, holder of kharajiya land. The kharajiya
land was the arable land on which land tax (kharaj) was imposed. In reference
to these wirds, the Court denied their capacity as tax receipts on the ground
that they were issued in the period during which Kafr Shubrahir was under
the careless control of Daqahliya provincial office. However, this view was
absolutely wrong, because these wirds were not issued as a result of careless
control, as the Court pointed out, but for the reason that the land of Kafr
Shubrahiir was controlled as state owned land by the provincial office, and

25 jbid., p. 3.
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the office leased it to the villagers as kharajiya land in those days. Conse-
quently, Kafr Shubrahiir was never part of the royal family’s estate from
1849 to 1863, and its villagers in this period were nearly similar to the holders
of kharajiya land at least from the legal point of view, for the kharajiya land
was also regulated as state owned land whose holder was legally permitted
only to enjoy the usufruct.

However, when ‘Isma‘il ascended the throne in 1863, he issued anew
the tagsit and incorporated the land of this village which remained as state
owned land into his private domain (Da’ira Saniya), using as an excuse that
there was no clear distinction between state owned land and the private estates
of royal families under the landholding system of state ownership in 19th
century Egypt. The Court confirmed this act of ‘Isma‘il and identified the
defendants with the labourers attached to his private domain, although it
might at least have treated them the same as the holders of kharajiya land,
if the previous history of Kafr Shubrahiir was taken into consideration. In
other words, the Court supported completely the right of the plaintiff as a
result of interpreting the history of Kafr Shubrahiir on the assumption of the
establishment of private land ownership from the modern legal point of view,
disregarding the complicated judicial condition of land tenure in 19th century
Egypt and the historical background of Kafr Shubrahiir riot.
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